
Licensing of 
Alcohol and 

Gambling Sub-
Committee 

Agenda 

 
1 

 

TUESDAY 19 SEPTEMBER 2023 AT 10.00 AM 
 

Council Chamber, The Forum 
 
The Councillors listed below are requested to attend the above meeting, on the day and at the time 
and place stated, to consider the business set out in this agenda. 
 
 
Membership 
 

Councillor Durrant 
Councillor Pringle (Chair) 
 

Councillor A Williams 
 

 
 
 
 
For further information, please contact Corporate and Democratic Support on 01442 228209 or 
email member.support@dacorum.gov.uk  
 

AGENDA 
 
 
1. MINUTES  (Pages 2 - 8) 
 
 To confirm the minutes of the previous meeting 

 
2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
 
 To receive any apologies for absence 

 
3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
 To receive any declarations of interest 

 
4. PREMISES LICENCE APPLICATION UNDER THE LICENSING ACT 2003 - 

TORNADOES SPORTS EDUCATION AND LEISURE  (Pages 9 - 68) 
 

5. PROCEDURE OF THE HEARING  (Pages 69 - 70) 
 

 
 

Public Document Pack

mailto:member.support@dacorum.gov.uk


1 
 

********************************************************************************************************* 
 
DACORUM BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
LICENSING OF ALCOHOL AND GAMBLING SUB-COMMITTEE 
 
11 JULY 2023 
 
********************************************************************************************************* 
Present –  
 
MEMBERS:  
 
Councillors:  Pringle (Chair), Link and Bhinder 
 
OFFICERS: 
 
Nargis Sultan  Legal Governance Manager (Litigation)  
Phil Wortley  Licensing Manager  
Kim Knight  Licensing Compliance and Technical Officer 
Layla Fowell  Corporate and Democratic Lead Officer (Minutes) 
 
OTHER PERSONS PRESENT: 
 
Mr P Thiyagarajh – Applicant 
Mr Lucan and Mr Semper from ‘The Licensing Guys’ – Applicants Representatives  
Cllr Elliot – Councillor for Chaulden and Warners End Ward 
 
The meeting began at 10.30 am 
 
 
1. MINUTES 
 
The Chair opened the meeting and introductions were made.  
  
The minutes of the previous meeting were formally approved as an accurate record. 
 
2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
There were apologies for absence from Sally Mcdonald, Licensing Lead Officer. 
 
3. DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS 
 
There were no declarations of interests.  
 
4. APPLICATION TO REVIEW PREMISES LICENCE UNDER THE LICENSING ACT 

2003 

The Sub-Committee were required to consider an application to review a premises licence 
for the following premises: 
 
PSM Express Limited 
15 Stoneycroft 
Warners End 
Hemel Hempstead 

Page 2

Agenda Item 1



2 
 

HP1 2QE 
 
P Wortley presented the licence application for PSM Express Ltd, noting the applicant as 
Mr Thiyagarajh. The premises is not currently subject to a premises licence and is located 
in the shopping precinct in Warner's End, Hemel Hempstead. Prior to the application, the 
premises was a newsagent and the application authorisation is sought for sale by retail of 
alcohol for consumption off the premises, Monday to Sunday, 06:00 to 23:00, with the 
application set out in Appendix A. A plan of the premises is also set out in the document 
alongside a map of the local area. The period for receipt of representations in respect of 
the application was 18 May to 15 June with one representation from Cllr Elliot, who 
represents Chaulden and Warner's End, which is included in the document. The applicant 
is represented by the Licensing Team.  
  
N Sultan asked if the panel have any questions at this point.  
  
The Chair queried if there are any other licensed premises in the row of shops. P Wortley 
confirmed that there are. K Knight confirmed that there is a Tesco and Co-Op on the 
same row of shops. The Chair asked if they have similar licensing hours. It was confirmed 
that they have similar licensing hours.  
  
Mr Lucan advised that the application was for a new convenience store within a pleasant 
shopping centre containing a range of shops, a number of which are already licensed and 
operating without issue. Mr Lucan stated that the application is modest and 
straightforward in its aims.  
  
Mr Lucan acknowledged the singular representation made by Cllr Elliot, who speculates 
that the premises will cause additional alcohol-related crimes and create problems within 
the area. Mr Lucan advised that the burden is on the applicant to show that the proposals 
in and around the operating schedule are capable of promoting the licensing objectives. 
Mr Lucan suggested that the sub-committee could only refuse the application if they find 
evidence that the operating schedule is not capable of promoting the licensing objectives. 
Mr Lucan stated that the councillor's representation does not contain any evidence that 
challenges or criticises the operating schedule.  
  
Mr Lucan introduced Mr Thiyagarajh, stating that he speaks very good English and has 
been selling alcohol from his garage for many years, where he never came to the 
attention of any responsible authorities. Mr Lucan described Mr Thiyagarajh as a 
conscientious trader who is hardworking and decent, that he has invested in the local 
area and intends to be in the area in the long-term.  
  
Mr Lucan noted Cllr Elliot's objection due to perceived crime and ASB (anti-social 
Behaviour) issues that could adversely affect the elderly who use the shops and that 
secondary school students could meet undesirable persons. Mr Lucan stated that Cllr 
Elliot has not responded to the request to negotiate, advising that they could have 
potentially avoided the hearing. Mr Lucan advised that the representation is based on fear 
and speculation that can't be supported by evidence against the operating schedule as 
the premises is yet to trade in this way. Mr Lucan asked the councillor to recognise that 
he is asking a lot of the panel in the representation for the application to be refused and 
stated that the panel must show in its decision why the unchallenged applicant, operating 
schedule and conditions will fail to promote the licensing objectives. The panel must also 
show the reasons why it considers the grant of the condition of this application would 
undermine the licensing objectives. The panel must demonstrate that there are no further 
appropriate conditions that would prove effective in preventing the speculative problems 
the councillor states will ensue.  
  

Page 3



3 
 

Mr Lucan referred to paragraph 9.43 of the Section 182 statutory guidance, noting that it 
clearly states 'the authority's determination should be evidence based, justifies being 
appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives and proportionate to what is 
intended to achieve.' Mr Lucan queried where the support is that the licensing objectives 
will be promoted and where the evidence is that the licensing objectives will be 
undermined.  
  
Mr Lucan next referred to the ruling in the case of Thwaites v Wirral Borough Magistrates 
Court, 6 May 2008 where the judge stated 'the conditions should only be attached to the 
license for promoting the licensing objectives and that real evidence must be presented to 
support the reason for imposing conditions or, indeed, refusing an application.' Mr Lucan 
asked where the real evidence is that serious problems would ensue if the licence were to 
be granted.  
  
Mr Lucan noted that members of parliament have provided mechanisms to deal with any 
future problems emanating from licensed premises activities, per the Licensing Act 2003. 
Mr Lucan stated that if issues were to ensue then the mechanism to control them is self-
evident and if the councillor's fears come to pass then the Licensing Act provides a 
remedy whereby the premises licence can be reviewed at the request of the councillor or 
responsible authority.  
  
Mr Lucan advised that none of the responsible authorities have raised an objection and 
the licensing authority has not raised a representation. Mr Lucan stated that the police 
assessed the application as capable of promoting each and every licensing objective and 
therefore raise no objections. Mr Lucan stated that Environmental Health have raised no 
representation. Mr Lucan confirmed that Trading Standards have raised no 
representation. Mr Lucan stated that Public Health have raised no representation and the 
Safeguarding Board have raised no representation. Mr Lucan suggested that it could 
therefore be concluded that all responsible authorities in Hemel Hempstead are satisfied 
that the operating schedule they have examined is capable of promoting the licensing 
objectives and won't undermine them.  
  
Mr Lucan referred to the video on the file, noting that the dilapidated edifices shown 
belong to the Council and that they should therefore not be used against a legitimate 
employer opening a business in the area.  
  
Mr Lucan summarised that fear and speculation on what may or may not happen in the 
future or as a consequence is not evidenced and that a single representation is 
unsupported by evidence. Mr Lucan stated that, with the conditions offered, the operating 
schedule and applicant are sufficiently robust to ensure the promotion of the licensing 
objectives and the sub-committee were therefore asked to grant the application.  
  
The Chair asked if the premises is predominantly for the sale of alcohol but also for the 
sale of groceries. Mr Lucan confirmed that it is a general store. It was stated that the 
premises will be a convenience store with a small off licence capacity.  
  
The Chair asked how much revenue would arise from the sale of alcohol. Mr Thiyagarajh 
stated that it would be less than 50%.  
  
The Chair referred to the layout of the store, noting that there would be 2 main displays 
with narrow aisles and a fridge or freezer at the back of the store. The Chair asked if this 
fridge or freezer would be for food or alcohol. Mr Thiyagarajh confirmed that this will be 
for food items.  
  

Page 4



4 
 

The Chair asked how many staff will be on duty. Mr Thiyagarajh advised that it would be 
up to 3 people.  
  
The Chair noted the good CCTV coverage and asked where the alcohol will be kept. The 
Chair queried how easy it would be for people to steal alcohol from the store. Mr 
Thiyagarajh wrote on the plan where the alcohol would be kept in the store. The Chair 
noted that alcohol would be kept close to the checkout area.  
 
Cllr Elliot thanked Mr Lucan for the submission and clarified that Mr Thiyagarajh would 
have the leasehold, not freehold.  
  
Cllr Elliot advised that he had spoken to 14 residents and 2 other councillors who are of 
the same view. Cllr Elliot noted the number of elderly residents in the area with warden-
controlled sheltered bungalows with around 80 residents and William Crook House, which 
is made up of 68 self-contained flats with elderly residents. Cllr Elliot also noted the pre-
school within the shopping parade and advised that the police were called around a 
month ago due to people outside smoking cannabis. Cllr Elliot advised there is also a 
community centre used by elderly residents and John F Kennedy School nearby. Cllr 
Elliot noted the boarded up garages that are pencilled in for redevelopment, though this 
has been paused, and contains temporary accommodation for vulnerable adults. Cllr 
Elliot stated that a number of people hang around the area at night, particularly the 
disused toilet block and park, which can be intimidating for elderly people and affects 
footfall.  
  
The Chair asked how far away the premises is from John F Kennedy School. Cllr Elliot 
suggested that it is a 5-10 minute walk away and is not directly outside the school.  
  
The Chair noted the ASB concerns raised by the councillor and that these are evidenced. 
Cllr Elliot stated that PCSOs are regularly in the area and there is an impression of young 
people hanging around.  
  
The Chair asked how the change of the use of the premises would materially exacerbate 
these problems that exist. Cllr Elliot stated that it would result in more alcohol being 
readily available and would therefore be a magnet for people.  
  
The Chair clarified that Cllr Elliot already accepts that alcohol is already on sale in the 
precinct during similar hours and that he submits that Tesco and Co-op have more 
stringent measures to stop young people getting hold of alcohol. The Chair asked the 
councillor to make a distinction between the independent store and the supermarkets. Cllr 
Elliot stated that they have more staff with better training and have a reputation to adhere 
to, particularly being multi-national stores.  
  
The Chair suggested that Cllr Elliot's concern is that an independent shop may not have 
the same reputational concerns. The Chair noted that the applicant has been previously 
licensed to sell alcohol on another premises and asked if he had any concerns arising 
from this. Cllr Elliot stated that he was unaware of this.  
  
The Chair asked the councillor if he had any concerns regarding the protection of 
children. Cllr Elliot stated that this would fall under the ASB concerns and his concern that 
there is a pre-school in the precinct.  
  
The Chair commented that all of the councillor's concerns already occur and are handled 
by the authorities. The Chair suggested that school children do congregate in public 
places and asked if any school governors or teachers have raised concerns. Cllr Elliot 
stated that they have not.  

Page 5



5 
 

  
The Chair noted that the garages are owned by the borough and asked if the councillor is 
ensuring safety concerns are being raised with the correct officers. Cllr Elliot advised that 
they are subject to demolition, though these have been paused due to financial 
constraints.  
 
Cllr Bhinder noted his empathy with Cllr Elliot's submission, noting that enforcement is 
retroactive and that they can't take action until something has happened. Cllr Bhinder 
acknowledged that no issues have been raised by authorities and stated that his 
concerns are regarding community responsibility. Cllr Bhinder commented on issues with 
alcohol use in shopping centres, noting that some people drink outside the shop, and 
stated that he would like reassurance from the applicant that the operation of the store 
will be vigilant to ensure this kind of behaviour will be monitored.  
  
Mr Lucan spoke on behalf of the applicant, noting that there is visible CCTV with 
recordings available for download and any responsible authority can have access to. Mr 
Lucan confirmed that an incident log will be maintained and that training will be provided 
to an industry standard, which will be repeated annually. Cllr Bhinder asked what training 
would be provided. Mr Lucan advised that training will be given regarding responsible 
alcohol sales.  
  
Cllr Bhinder stated that his concern is the outside of the premises and asked for some 
reassurance that the premises will be managed in a way that people can't consume 
outside alcohol in the surrounding area. Mr Lucan referred to the conditions of the 
application and that anyone underage attempting to purchase alcohol should provide a 
document to prove they are 18 and that signage is inside and outside the shop that set 
out expectations and will be enforced by the seller.  
  
The application referred to and it was stated that the premises licence holder will display 
notices that are prominent, clear and legible in no less than font 32 to advise the public 
not to consume any alcohol purchased from the premises at or near the premises. Cllr 
Bhinder asked if they expect alcoholics to read these signs. It was stated that staff are 
expected to retail alcohol responsibly in accordance with the law and training as per the 
conditions of the application.  
  
Cllr Bhinder stated that if the licence is granted then Cllr Elliot should be able to go back 
to residents to explain that there is reassurance that the situation will be monitored and 
controlled.  
  
The Chair commented that some people can become aggressive and it may be 
intimidating for staff to challenge them. The Chair asked if there would be members of 
staff sufficiently trained to act as security staff and would be able to de-escalate 
situations. It was stated that level 1 of responsible alcohol retailing covers conflict 
management.  
  
The Chair asked if the applicant would be prepared to ask people to move away and not 
serve them again in future and would contact the police if they fail to comply with 
instructions. Mr Thiyagarajh confirmed that he or his staff would interject.  
  
The Chair asked Mr Thiyagarajh if he has had incidents in the past where he has been 
concerned about aggressive customers and how this has been handled. Mr Thiyagarajh 
stated that they asked the customer to leave and that they were unable to serve him, he 
refused and a record of this was made.  
  

Page 6



6 
 

The Chair noted that local shops can be flooded with school children and asked Mr 
Thiyagarajh how he would address this and prevent any theft. Mr Thiyagarajh stated that 
only 2 children can enter the store at any time and they will be asked for ID if required.  
  
The Chair asked Mr Thiyagarajh if he had kept a record of the attrition rate of alcohol theft 
in his previous shop. Mr Thiyagarajh stated that this was recorded in his previous 
business and had a strict policy.  
  
Cllr Elliot referred to Mr Thiyagarajh's previous business and asked for further 
information. Mr Thiyagarajh advised that this was an Esso service station in Chesham 
that he worked in from 2014 to 2022.  
  
Cllr Elliot noted the proposed operating times and suggested that he would prefer the 
times to purchase alcohol should be restricted. It was stated that the licenses for the 
neighbouring premises are for similar times.  
 
Mr Lucan noted the concerns raised stating that the responsible authorities have not 
provided any representation and advised that it is a modest application that mirrors others 
in the area. Mr Lucan stated that he hoped for the application to be granted and he 
wished Mr Thiyagarajh every success in serving and running a well-run business.  
  
The Chair asked if starting the licence later would be considered. Mr Lucan stated that 
this does not fit the business model in this instance.  
  
Cllr Elliot stated that he looked forward to working with the proprietor.  
 
The Chair advised that they have 5 days to notify the applicant of the decision. It was 
agreed that the sub-committee would adjourn for 30 minutes and that the applicant could 
return for a further update.  
  
The meeting was adjourned. 
 
Decision 
 
At the meeting of 11th of July 2023, the Sub-Committee were informed of concerns regarding 

Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) at the shopping precinct in Warners End Hemel Hempstead, 

should the license be granted. The Sub-Committee were also informed that police were 

called last month in relation to people smoking cannabis in the area.  

Whilst it is noted that there is history of ASB, drug use and general nuisance in the locality, 

the Sub-Committee is not satisfied that these problems will be exacerbated by the granting 

of the license. The Sub-Committee notes that, whilst these are genuine concerns, there was 

no evidence to suggest that the granting of the licensing would seriously undermined one or, 

all of the licensing objectives as no such evidence had been put before the licensing Sub-

Committee and there were no objections raised by the Responsible Authorises.  

The Sub-Committee has therefore resolved to grant the application for a premises licence to 

PSM Express. 

The Sub-Committee has given particular consideration to the fact that the applicant is a 

responsible businessman, he has been trading for a number of years, and he has never had 

any problems with any of the Responsible Authorities. 

Page 7



7 
 

Moreover, the Applicant had confirmed that staff will be appropriately trained - in particular in 

conflict management. The business will hold incident logs and CCTV which will be available 

for viewing, there will also be adequate signage though out the premises.  

 
 
The meeting ended at 11.19 am.  

Page 8



 

AGENDA ITEM:  4 

Report for: 
Licensing of Alcohol and Gambling 
Sub-Committee 

Date of meeting: 19th September 2023  

PART: I 

If Part II, reason: - 

 

Title of report: 
Premises Licence application under the 
Licensing Act 2003 

Contact: Sally Mcdonald – Lead Officer, Licensing 

Purpose of report: 

This report sets out details of an application in respect of a 
premises licence, which requires consideration and determination 
by the Sub-Committee in accordance with the adopted scheme of 
delegation. 

Recommendations 
That the Sub-Committee consider the contents of the report, and 
representations made in respect of the application, and determine 
the application in accordance with the options set out in the report. 

Corporate 
objectives: 

 
A clean, safe and enjoyable environment 
 

 Applications are required to be considered with regard to 
the promotion of four licensing objectives, comprising the 
prevention of crime and disorder, public safety, prevention 
of public nuisance, and protection of children from harm. 

 
Ensuring efficient, effective and modern service delivery  
 

 Consideration of applications for premises licences and 
club premises certificates is a statutory function, with a risk 
of judicial proceedings and reputational damage should the 
authority fail to properly exercise its functions. 

 

Implications: 
Applications are to be determined under existing policies. No new 
policy implications arise. 

Consultees: 
Consultation requirements are prescribed by legislation, and differ 
depending upon the type of application. Details of representations 
made by consultees are set out below. 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



Background papers: 

Licensing Act 2003, and associated regulations 
 

DBC Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 
 

Guidance to Licensing Authorities under section 182 of the 
Licensing Act 2003 (Home Office, July 2023) 

Glossary of 
acronyms and any 
other abbreviations 
used in this report: 

 

 
 
1. Background 
 

1.1. The supply of alcohol, provision of regulated entertainment, and sale of late night 
refreshment are licensable activities under the Licensing Act 2003. Authorisation 
from the Council, in its role as the licensing authority, is required in order to carry on 
any of these activities at premises within the borough. 
 

1.2. The Act provides several forms of authorisation for different scenarios. Persons or 
organisations wishing to carry on activities at premises on a regular basis, or at 
larger one-off events, will require a premises licence to authorise those activities. 
Members’ clubs, satisfying a number of statutory criteria, may alternatively hold a 
club premises certificate. 
 

1.3. Under the scheme of delegation adopted by the Council, the Licensing of Alcohol & 
Gambling Sub-Committee (“the Sub-Committee”) is responsible for the exercise of 
many of the functions of the licensing authority, including determination of 
applications where representations have been received. 

 
 
2. Applications 
 

2.1. The application detailed in Appendix A of this report has been made to the licensing 
authority and requires consideration and determination by the Sub-Committee. 

 
2.2. Notice of application was given by the applicant in each case, through service of a 

copy of the application on specified ‘responsible authorities’ (this obligation is 
fulfilled by officers where the application was given electronically). The applicant 
was also required to give public notice of the application, by way of publication of 
details in a local newspaper, and by displaying a statutory notice at or near the 
premises. Failure to comply with these requirements would render an application 
invalid. Officers have undertaken checks to ensure that these requirements were 
satisfied. 

 
2.3. The applicant and persons making representations have been given notice of the 

hearing in accordance with statutory requirements. 
 
 
3. General principles to be followed when determining applications 
 

3.1. When considering applications, the licensing authority is required to carry out its 
functions with a view promoting the licensing objectives, which are: 
 

Page 10

file://///dacorum.local/dbcshare/licensing/Licensing%20Act%202003/Policy%20documents/Policy%20Review%202020/Statement%20of%20Licensing%20Policy%202021-26%20(1.85MB).pdf
file://///dacorum.local/dbcshare/licensing/Licensing%20Act%202003/Policy%20documents/Policy%20Review%202020/Statement%20of%20Licensing%20Policy%202021-26%20(1.85MB).pdf
../../../../Licensing%20Act%202003/Guidance/Statutory%20182%20Home%20Office%20Guidance%20-%20July%202023.pdf
../../../../Licensing%20Act%202003/Guidance/Statutory%20182%20Home%20Office%20Guidance%20-%20July%202023.pdf


 the prevention of crime and disorder; 

 public safety; 

 the prevention of public nuisance; and 

 the protection of children from harm. 
 

3.2. The licensing authority must also have regard to its Statement of Licensing Policy, 
and to the statutory guidance issued by the Home Office under section 182 of the 
Act. Attention is drawn to specific, relevant provisions from these documents, with 
the details of the applications in the Appendices. 
 

3.3. The Sub-Committee must ensure that all licensing decisions have a direct 
relationship to the promotion of one or more of the licensing objectives. Every 
application should be considered on its merits, and there must not be a 'blanket 
policy' to the extent that it is applied so rigidly that an exercise of discretion in each 
individual case is precluded. Applications must be considered with regard to the 
principles of fair process and the Human Rights Act. 
 

3.4. The Statement of Licensing Policy makes clear to applicants and persons who have 
made representations the considerations that will be taken into account when 
determining applications. It is also intended to guide the Sub-Committee when 
considering licensing applications; however, the Sub-Committee may depart from 
either the Statement of Licensing Policy or the statutory guidance where the 
circumstances of the application justify it and if there are good reasons for doing so. 
Full reasons must be given and Sub-Committees should be aware that such 
departures could give rise to an appeal or judicial review. 
 

3.5. The provisions of chapter 10 of the statutory guidance highlight that only precise, 
appropriate and proportionate conditions, which promote one or more of the 
licensing objectives, should be attached to the licence or certificate. The Sub-
Committee should only impose such conditions as are appropriate to promote the 
licensing objectives arising out of the consideration of the representations received , 
and should avoid straying into undisputed areas. Conditions duplicating other 
statutory provisions are not considered to be appropriate. 
 

3.6. It is considered inappropriate for officers involved in the administration of 
applications to make recommendations. However officers from the Responsible 
Authorities may request conditions be imposed on a licence and make 
recommendations with regard to the licensing objectives. 

 
3.7. Parties to a hearing, including the applicant and persons who made relevant 

representations, may have rights of appeal against any decision made by the Sub-
Committee, dependent upon the nature of the decision. Appeals may be instituted 
by way of written notice to a Magistrates Court, within 21 days of being notified of 
the decision. 

 
 
4. Options available to the Sub-Committee 
 

4.1. When determining an application for the grant of a premises licence (under section 
17 of the 2003 Act), the Sub-Committee must, having regard to relevant 
representations made in respect of that application, take such of the following steps 
as it considers appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives: 
 

Page 11



(a) grant the licence subject to any applicable mandatory conditions, and conditions 
consistent with the operating schedule modified to such extent as the authority 
considers appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives; 

(b) exclude from the scope of the licence any of the licensable activities to which 
the application relates; 

(c) refuse to specify a person in the licence as the premises supervisor; 
(d) reject the application. 
 

 
 
5. Details of application 
 

5.1. The following application requires consideration and determination by the Sub-
Committee. Further details on the application are contained in the indicated 
appendix: 
 

Appendix Premises name / address Type of application 

A 

Tornadoes Sports Education and 
Leisure, Sports Pavilion, Miswell Lane 
Recreation Ground, Miswell Lane, 
Tring Hertfordshire HP23 4EX 

Application for grant of 
premises licence 
(s.17, Licensing Act 
2003) 

 

Page 12



 

 APPENDIX A 

 
Applicants name 
 

Tornadoes Sports Education and Leisure 

Name and address of 
premises 
 

Tornadoes Sports Education and Leisure 
Sports Pavilion 
Miswell Lane Recreation Ground 
Miswell Lane 
Tring 
Hertfordshire 
HP23 4EX 
 

Ward 
 

Tring West and Rural 

 
1. Background 

 
1.1 This is a new application for grant of a premises licence. 
 
1.2 The club that used the sports facilities on this site previously held 

a Club Premises Certificate issued under the Licensing Act, 
enabling it to supply alcohol to its club members and signed in 
guests.  The club surrendered this Certificate on 22 June 2023. 

 
2. Application 

 
2.1 An application has been made for the grant of a new premises 

licence, seeking authorisation for the following licensable activities: 
 
Sale by retail of alcohol:  
For consumption both on and off the premises 
 
Monday-Sunday 11:00 until 23:00 
New Year's Eve until 00:30 
 
Hours premises open to the public: 
 
Monday-Sunday 07:00 until 23:30 
New Year's Eve until 01:00 

 
2.2 The application is set out at Annex A. 

 

 
2.3. A plan of the premises is set out at Annex B 

 

 
2.4 A map of the local area is set out at Annex C 

 

  

Page 13



 
3. Details of Representations 

 
3.1 Consultation took place between 25 July and 22 August 2023.  

During that time 15 valid representations were received, relating to 
the potential increase in noise, nuisance, and an increase in crime 
and anti-social behaviour should the premises licence be granted.  
These representations are set out at Annexes D1 to D15. 
 

3.2 The following responses were received from the eight responsible 
authorities consulted: 
 
Hertfordshire Constabulary – no response 
Hertfordshire Fire & Rescue – no response 
NHS Herts – no representations 
Environmental and Community Protection – no representations 
Planning – no response 
Trading Standards – no representations 
Local Safeguarding Children’s Board – no response 
Licensing authority – no response 

 
4. Observations 

 
4.1 On and off sales – on sales are defined as consuming the alcohol in 

the same location as the point of sale – so for example, where 
alcohol purchased in the premises is proposed to be consumed in an 
outdoor space that is not included in the licensed area on the plan, 
then consumption in those areas would need to be treated as ‘off 
sales’.  Guidance in respect of outdoor spaces is set out in paragraph 
8.35 of Statutory 182 guidance, and, for convenience, also included 
in Annex E of this agenda. 
 

4.2.  Parking is not a relevant consideration under Licensing Act 
legislation, which covers licensable activity.  There are no controls in 
the Licensing Act that enable the licensing authority to enforce in 
cases of parking problems in residential streets, and the licence 
holder cannot be held responsible for the parking of visitors to the 
premises, who would have personal responsibility for doing so in 
suitable places. 
 

4.3. The impact on wildlife is also not a relevant consideration in the 
Licensing Act, which focusses on the promotion of the four licensing 
objectives as they relate to the impact on the public and local 
communities where licences are granted. There are already controls 
to protect wildlife in place under other pieces of legislation – local 
policy and national guidance specifically confirms that the licensing 
authority should not duplicate other regulatory regimes.  

 
4.4 The minimum statutory requirement for advertising the application is 

the display of a blue notice in a prominent position at the premises, 

Page 14



and notice of intention published in a news publication or circular 
once during the consultation period, a maximum of ten working days 
after submission of the application to the Council.  It is not a legal 
requirement of this legislation for applicants to consult with other 
parties, that is a matter of personal preference. 

 

5. Local policy and National guidance is set out at Annex E. 
  

Page 15



 

ANNEX A – APPLICATION FOR PREMISES LICENCE 
 

 
  

Page 16



 
  

Page 17



 
  

Page 18



 
  

Page 19



 

 
  

Page 20



 
  

Page 21



 

 
  

Page 22



 
  

Page 23



 
  

Page 24



 
  

Page 25



 
  

Page 26



 
  

Page 27



 
  

Page 28



 
  

Page 29



 
  

Page 30



 
  

Page 31



 
  

Page 32



 
  

Page 33



ANNEX B – PLAN OF PREMISES 
 

 
 

 

Page 34



ANNEX C- LOCATION OF PREMISES 

 

Page 35



ANNEX D - REPRESENTATIONS 
 

 
 
 
From: xxxxxxxx 
Sent: 03 August 2023 13:36 
To: Licensing Mailbox <Licensing@dacorum.gov.uk> 
Subject: Tornadoes Sports Education & Leisure - Sports Pavilion, Miswell Lane Recreation 
Ground 

 

 

Dear Sir 

The above application is to sell alcohol seven days a week until 23.00 with the 
premises open until 23.30. In reality, that means that we will be disturbed every 
night of the week until 11.45 as people leave and make their way home.  Our 
premises xxxxxxxx (location with held). During the day there is often a lot of noise 
from matches etc which I would never object to. However, as pensioners I think it is 
unreasonable to expect us to be disturbed every night until so late.  

Could the licence be granted for an earlier closing time for all nights apart from 
Fridays and Saturdays?  My husband is almost seventy and suffering from COPD - 
disturbed rest every night of the week will not do him any good. I note that the 
application says that "We have begun the process of engaging with our neighbours on 

Miswell Lane, Windmill Way and Osmington Place." We have learned of this 

application from a neighbour, no information has been received from the Tornadoes. 

I hope you will be able to take my views into account when considering this 
application. 

Yours faithfully 

 

 
  

Page 36



ANNEX D2 

From: xxxxxxxxxx 
Sent: 03 August 2023 14:25 
To: Licensing Mailbox <Licensing@dacorum.gov.uk> 
Subject: Application for alcohol license by Tornadoes Sports Education & Leisure 

 

Dear Sirs, 

As a resident of xxxxxxxx very close to the proposed premises I would like 

to strongly object to the application dated 25th July 2023. My reasons for 

this objection are listed below. 

 

1. Noise late at night. It is inevitable that local residents will be disturbed by 

late night noise. In the summer potentially large groups will be outside the 

building. It was within the last 3 years that local police had to regularly 

attend the recreation ground to break up relatively small groups of teenagers 

who were frequently causing noise disturbance to local residents. These 

increased numbers fuelled with alcohol would increase the nose level to a 

very high degree. I do not for one second believe the club will be able to 

control the level of noise from an indoor let alone an outdoor drinking 

facility. 

 

2. Purpose. The Tring tornadoes are primarily an organisation to introduce 

sports to children. Why does a club with a focus on children require a late 

night alcohol license?  

 

3. I have over many years worked with and seen companies and 

organisations who claim to "take their responsibilities very seriously" Never 

in my 50 years in commerce have I met an organisation that did more they 

pay lip service to this mantra. It will get noisy, it will get unruly, it will 

upset residents and the club for all their assurance will powerless to stop it. 

Putting up a few signs telling people to behave will NEVER work.  The staff 

even if they have the courage to ask people to be quiet will be ignored.  

The staff even if they have the courage to ask people to moderate their 

language will be ignored. 

 

4. There are no shortage of licenced premises in the area, adding another 

will only take away trade from existing local business especially that as a 

members club they will aim to undercut the local public houses to generate 

trade and increased usage this in turn will cause nightly misery to anyone 

within earshot. This application is in my opinion primarily driven by money 

and the club sees this as a way to increase revenue. To pretend it is for the 

benefit of the community is patent nonsense. 

 

Yours sincerely 

 

Page 37



ANNEX D3 

From: xxxxxxxxxx 
Sent: 07 August 2023 18:14 
To: Licensing Mailbox <Licensing@dacorum.gov.uk> 
Subject: Application no M057162, type LA2003 s.17: Premises licence - Tring Tornadoes 
Sports Education and Leisure 

 

 

To whom it may concern 
 
RE: Application no M057162, type LA2003 s.17: Premises licence - Tring 
Tornadoes Sports Education and Leisure 
 
Firstly I would like to say that I am very supportive of sports education, for not 
only the mental health and wellbeing benefits but also as a way to give our 
youth a sense of purpose and involvement in our local community.  
 
However, as a resident of xxxxxxxxx (location with-held), I would like to 
formally object to the application for a licence to provide alcohol at the Sports 
Pavilion, Miswell Lane Recreation Ground for the following reasons: 
 
1. A charity for the public benefit: Tornadoes Sports Education and Leisure is 
about education and training and primarily for children and young people up to 
the age of 18. The facility in Miswell Lane is specially for this young 
community and therefore an alcohol licence cannot be justified. It asks the 
question what is the purpose of the licence. I note the club's income has 
decreased from £129,000 in 2021 to £85,000 in 2022. If it is to generate 
income to supplement its subscriptions and the intention is to hire out the 
facility, then the club, although able to impose potential sanctions on its own 
members, will be unable to have any control over general public.  
 
2. Public safety/prevention of public nuisance/protecting children from harm:  
 
Whilst I commend the statutory measures undertaken on health and safety 
and very much welcome the introduction of CCTV, there are severe concerns 
that an alcohol licence will lead to further anti-social behaviour which residents 
have had to and continue to tolerate. I personally was followed and 
intimidated by youths in masks whilst out walking my dog after requesting they 
stopped throwing litter and damaging the bins.  
 
Residents are constantly having to pick up litter down the path to the football 
pitch, collect plastic water bottle up after matches. Some residents have 
experienced abuse with litter being thrown into their gardens. This has the 
potential to be exacerbated with alcohol.  
 
3. Opening hours - Having a facility open/serving until 2330 will generate 
significant noise and light pollution on the residents that back onto the facility. 
Match days the use of colourful language is bad enough, but then moving into 
the afternoon and evening with further noise, possible music and parties will 
be a further nuisance to local residents.  

Page 38



 
Parking is currently a severe problem on match days and could get worse with 
late night opening hours. The situation is dangerous. Cars are parking in 
Osmington Place and up Christchurch Road. I attach pictures of just this 
weekend gone 5 August. It is not just a nuisance but a public safety issue.  
 
4. Engaging with the neighbours: There has been no formal engagement with 
the neighbours to go through the plans and development of the club. We have 
in fact requested a meeting which is being held on Monday 7 August.  
 
Having been heavily involved in sport I would like to make clear that this 
objection is not to do with the prevention or obstruction of sport. I do believe 
that all sports clubs in Tring need to get together and utilise existing facilities 
better. The cricket club is 3 minutes away from the recreation ground. It has a 
fully licensed bar and catering facilities. The ground does not back right onto 
to residents; it has a car park. Why not get clubs together to make better use 
of this great facility? 
 
As I know being a member of the hockey club, small sports clubs are 
struggling to survive, often being swallowed up by larger clubs in other 
regions. It would be good to see all clubs in Tring unite, to help save costs 
themselves, protect their clubs and help sustain a wonderful sporting 
community for generations to come.  
 
With kind regards 
 
 
Additional comments from xxxxx 
 
From: xxxxxxxx  
Sent: 21 August 2023 19:31 
To: Licensing Mailbox <Licensing@dacorum.gov.uk> 
Subject: Re: Application no M057162, type LA2003 s.17: Premises licence - Tring Tornadoes 
Sports Education and Leisure 

 

 

Dear Ms McDonald  

I do apologise for not replying sooner but I have been away on leave.  

 

Thank you for your comments on the parking which I will now refer to the 

appropriate agencies.  

 

Please would you be so kind and include these additional comments to my objection 

to the licence application.  

 

There is no safe departure from the venue to a taxi pick up point. The venue, due to its 

location in a recreation area, is not easily accessible by car, and there  no parking, 

drop off, pick up provision for a taxi.  

 

Page 39



In addition, following a meeting with residents last week, at the residents request, we 

had no proactive discussions with the club despite encouraging them to 

collaborate.  The chairman’s ambitions for the club greatly exceed the capacity of the 

venue. He talked about 600 members across their community.  

 

It appears they want to turn the facility into a pub; sky sports, table tennis, darts 

league etc.  

 

The management have no idea on how many people the pavilion will hold (paramount 

for health and safety) and don’t know what they want to use the licence for. They 

haven’t as yet consulted their membership.  

 

The venue is also right next to a protected woodland (blanket TPO which is an 

environment for nesting birds, badgers etc)  which will also be disturbed.  

 

I cannot stress enough the disruption to residents due to noise, light and anti social 

behaviour.  

 

Many thanks indeed 

 
  

Page 40



ANNEX D4 
XXXXXXXXXX 

         XXXXX 

         XXXXXX 

Licensing Officer 

Dacorum Borough Council      8th August 2023 

Hemel Hempstead. 

 

Dear Licensing Officer, 

Re: Application for Alcohol Licence at Sports Pavilion, Miswell Lane Recreation Ground, Tring. 

I would like to express my opposition to the above application on the following grounds: 

1.The Sports Pavilion has attracted various break-ins, criminal damage and disorder over the 

years as a result of the attraction of stored alcohol on the premises which are unmanned for 

most of the time. This history is witnessed by the addition of metal bars at the windows, 

replaced doors and the police notice warning of CCTV monitoring. There is also a problem 

with groups of youths meeting there who seem to encourage each other to undertake 

activities such as climbing on the roof. I imagine that the amount of alcohol stored would 

increase with the extended licensing hours requested, and this would exacerbate the 

problem.  

2.The effect of the opening hours requested, 11.00am until 11.00pm 7 days/week, can only 

add to the potential for alcohol-related public disorder, particularly when visiting and leaving 

the premises and on match days. We have already had an example of this when, in 2017, a 

brawl began behind the goal adjacent to the pavilion/spectator area, involving both players 

and spectators, and resulting in the police and ambulance services being called. The 

premises are surrounded by housing on 3 sides, who largely support the sporting/football 

activities at the ground but should not have to suffer the public nuisance effect which is likely 

to arise.  

3. I fully support the aims of the applicant, Tornadoes, to provide sporting opportunities, 

such as football and netball, to children and teenagers of all ages. It is a valuable activity, but 

I fail to see how the sale of alcohol from 11.00am to 11.00pm, 7 days per week, in the 

clubhouse which they may use, and the resulting behaviour, sets a good example to these 

youngsters. I trust that the licensing committee will seek a more reasonable solution such as 

that agreed with previous tenants. 

 

Kind Regards 

  

Page 41



ANNEX D5 

From: xxxxxxx  
Sent: 10 August 2023 14:29 
To: Licensing Mailbox <Licensing@dacorum.gov.uk> 
Subject: Licence application for the premises below 
 
 
M057162 
 
Application type: LA2003 s.17: Premises licence - New licence application Date received: 25 
July 2023 
 
Premises name: Tornadoes Sports Education & Leisure 
 
Premises address: Sports Pavilion, Miswell Lane Recreation Ground, Miswell Lane Tring 
Hertfordshire HP23 4EX 
 
Dear sirs, 
 
I would like to voice my strong objection to the above application. We live xxxxxxxxxxx 
(location with-held). We are directly affected for many reasons. 
 
Whilst I have no objection to people enjoying themselves I am concerned that this will cause 
more problems for us. Over the years we have suffered damage to our property, attempted 
theft and noise and rubbish disturbances. The police were called on several occasions. We 
had to install a seven foot fence to protect our property, more often than not it was the 
greenhouse which suffered as it was used for target practice. 
I am not sure what happened but we then went through a quiet spell. Now, although not as 
bad, we are once again having bottles, cans etc thrown over our fence in the evening 
especially on match days. We also suffer the noise from revellers who have perhaps had too 
much to drink shouting and swearing as they leave the football club. 
 
My concern is that if the clubhouse is open to serve alcohol for the period it is requesting we 
will again have these problems but possibly on a grander scale as the opening hours will be 
longer. Whilst the licensee might be a responsible individual he cannot police all his 
customers. The area, which is used during the day by many people young and old and 
already suffers from litter, including broken glass, which I am aware is not down to the 
football club, but it is a football club, not a pub. 
 
I hope you will take my objection into account. It is based on our experiences. 
 
Kind regards 
  

Page 42



ANNEX D6 

From: xxxxx   
Sent: 14 August 2023 11:06 
To: Licensing Mailbox <Licensing@dacorum.gov.uk> 
Subject: Licensing application M057162. Objection from: xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx 

 
 
  
Dear Sir / Madam 

Re. Licensing application M057162 (Tornadoes Sports Education & Leisure, at Sports 

Pavilion, Miswell Lane Recreation Ground, Miswell Lane, Tring, Hertfordshire, 

HP23 4EX) 

Objection from: xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx 
I wish to please object to the license application for the following reasons: 
  
Protecting Children from Harm 
Miswell Park, one of the few open green spaces in Tring, is extensively used by Children. 
Their use extends to the football field and surrounds, as well as the lower part of the Park. 
Children use the park at all times including during the licensing hours Tring Tornadoes have 
applied for when Tring Tornadoes matches are not being played. The license application is 
for the sale of alcohol for consumption on and off premises when Tring Tornadoes will not 
be using the playing area but other children will be. From my direct experience because I use 
the park extensively with my own children and xxxxxxx(location with-held), I know that when 
a previous licence was held then users of the sports pavilion walked out to drink on the 
grass, particularly in summer. This will happen again and it directly exposes children to 
people drinking and corresponding behaviour in an area they play in. The licence application 
effectively creates a pub garden around the sports pavilion and throughout the upper area 
of the park and directly affects Children’s ability to use the space.  
  
It is completely inappropriate to operate a licensed premises in an open setting extensively 
used by children who do not have many alternative open play areas in Tring which has an 
acknowledged shortage of open green play space. Tring Tornadoes are a youth football club 
and may be able to keep an eye on this issue whilst there are supervised matches going on, 
but the licence application extends well outside the hours when they will be supervising 
children who are members of their club and so directly affects children. 
  
Preventing crime and Disorder 
Misswell park is unlit and there was at least one case of violence which I was witness to after 
closing time at the previous venue. The remote location and lack of lighting lend themselves 
especially well to antisocial behaviour after the venue has shut. I know this from direct 
experience as I witnessed one fight outside the venue when it held a license previously 
whilst walking my dog at night and I have heard of others. Despite any assurances you may 
receive from a potential license holder it is a fact that alcohol and an unlit park at closing 
time are a dangerous combination. 
  
When the license was held previously I personally witnessed several instances of people 
urinating in the park both during licensing hours and after closing time. The area particularly 
lends itself to such behaviour which is intimidating and disgusting. People walk their dogs 

Page 43



and use the park until very late at night and it is not appropriate that alcohol induced bad 
behaviour should get in the way of people using the playing fields. 
  
In addition, when the clubhouse venue was licensed previously there was also an increased 
level of litter (including broken glasses- this was despite a ‘no glass’ policy because it was 
often caused by people bringing their own alcohol before entering the venue and dumping it 
beforehand in the unlit park). The park is used throughout the day and evening, especially in 
summer and creating what is in effect a busy pub in the park is intimidatory to those walking 
their dogs, playing with their children any generally using the park as it is supposed to be 
used- as a public recreational area.  
  
Preventing public Nuisance 
The clubhouse is surrounded on two sides by residential properties. The noise from the 
previous tenant when the premises was licensed was considerable and substantially 
diminished the ability of the residents to enjoy their houses and gardens. This noise was 
generated both from within the Venue and by users of the venue going home afterwards 
and this noise extended well beyond closing time at the venue. The neighbours were assured 
last time a license was held by the premises that signage was displayed telling people to be 
quiet on exit but the signs made no difference whatsoever (as anyone who has been to a 
pub knows). This venue is a clubhouse for a youth football club and it is not a suitable 
location for a licensed premises. There are a considerable number of other licensed premises 
in Tring.  There is no other property or barrier between the clubhouse venue and the back 
gardens and houses of the surrounding properties and so the noise generated is 
considerable. No direct contact has been attempted with me by the license applicants 
despite me being a direct neighbour to the location despite their application stating they 
have ‘begun the process of engaging with our neighbours’. 
  
In summary I object very strongly to a license being granted. The venue is unsuitable in 
location, presents a danger of exposure to alcohol and alcohol induced behaviour to 
children, creates a public nuisance and negatively affects the ability of the surrounding 
householders to enjoy their houses and gardens. Please note that I speak with personal first-
hand experience of the damage caused when a license was previously allowed and the 
examples of bad behaviour mentioned above have been directly witnessed by me and only 
occurred when the alcohol license was in place.  
  
Please do not hesitate to contact me should you wish to discuss any of the above. 
  
Yours sincerely 
  

Page 44



ANNEX D7 

From:  
Sent: 14 August 2023 11:13 
To: Licensing Mailbox <Licensing@dacorum.gov.uk> 
Subject: Re. Licensing application M057162; Objection from: J Couzens 

 

 

Dear Sir / Madam 

Re. Licensing application M057162 Tornadoes Sports Education & Leisure, 
at Sports Pavilion, Miswell Lane Recreation Ground, Miswell Lane, Tring, 

Hertfordshire, HP23 4EX) 

Objection from: XXXXXXXXX 
  
I wish to please object to the license application for the following reasons: 
  
1. 
Miswell Park, one of the few open green spaces in Tring, is extensively 
used by Children. Their use extends to the football field and surrounds, as 

well as the lower part of the Park. Children use the park at all times 
including during the licensing hours Tring Tornadoes have applied for 

when Tring Tornadoes matches are not being played. The license 
application is for the sale of alcohol for consumption on and off premises 
when Tring Tornadoes will not be using the playing area but other children 

will be. From my direct experience because I use the park extensively with 
my own children and xxxxxx (location with-held), I know that when a 

previous licence was held then users of the sports pavilion walked out to 
drink on the grass, particularly in summer. This will happen again and it 
directly exposes children to people drinking and corresponding behaviour 

in an area they play in. The licence application effectively creates a pub 
garden around the sports pavilion and throughout the upper area of the 

park and directly affects Children’s ability to use the space.  
  
It is completely inappropriate to operate a licensed premises in an open 

setting extensively used by children who do not have many alternative 
open play areas in Tring which has an acknowledged shortage of open 

green play space. Tring Tornadoes are a youth football club and may be 
able to keep an eye on this issue whilst there are supervised matches 
going on, but the licence application extends well outside the hours when 

they will be supervising children who are members of their club and so 
directly affects children. 
  
2. 
Misswell park is unlit and there was at least one case of violence which my 
husband was witness to after closing time at the previous venue. The 
remote location and lack of lighting lend themselves especially well to 

antisocial behaviour after the venue has shut. Despite any assurances you 
may receive from a potential license holder it is a fact that alcohol and an 

unlit park at closing time are a dangerous combination. 
  

Page 45



When the license was held previously there were instances of people 
urinating in the park both during licensing hours and after closing time. 

The area particularly lends itself to such behaviour which is intimidating 
and disgusting. People walk their dogs and use the park until very late at 

night and it is not appropriate that alcohol induced bad behaviour should 
get in the way of people using the playing fields. 
  
In addition, when the clubhouse venue was licensed previously there was 
also an increased level of litter (including broken glasses- this was despite 

a ‘no glass’ policy because it was often caused by people bringing their 
own alcohol before entering the venue and dumping it beforehand in the 
unlit park). The park is used throughout the day and evening, especially in 

summer and creating what is in effect a busy pub garden in the park is 
intimidatory to those walking their dogs, playing with their children any 

generally using the park as it is supposed to be used- as a public 
recreational area.  
  
3. 

The clubhouse is surrounded by residential properties. The noise from the 

previous tenant when the premises was licensed was considerable and 
substantially diminished the ability of the residents to enjoy their houses 

and gardens. This noise was generated both from within the Venue and by 
users of the venue going home afterwards and this noise extended well 
beyond closing time at the venue. The neighbours were assured last time 

a license was held by the premises that signage was displayed telling 
people to be quiet on exit but the signs made no difference whatsoever 

(as anyone who has been to a pub knows). This venue is a clubhouse for a 
youth football club and it is not a suitable location for a licensed premises. 
There are a considerable number of other licensed premises in Tring.  

There is no other property or barrier between the clubhouse venue and 
the back gardens and houses of the surrounding properties and so the 

noise generated is considerable. No direct contact has been attempted 
with our property by the license applicants despite me being a direct 
neighbour to the location despite their application stating they have 

‘begun the process of engaging with our neighbours’. 
  
In summary I object very strongly to a license being granted. The venue 
is unsuitable in location, presents a danger of exposure to alcohol and 
alcohol induced behaviour to children, creates a public nuisance and 

negatively affects the ability of the surrounding householders to enjoy 
their houses and gardens. I have personal first-hand experience of the 

damage caused when a license was previously allowed and indeed, the 
previous license was for a much shorter opening time period. 
  
Please do not hesitate to contact me should you wish to discuss any of the 
above. 
  
Yours faithfully 
  

Page 46



ANNEX D8 
XXXXXXXX 
(and on the behalf of two children xxxxxxxx) 
 
xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx 
xxxxxx 
xxxxxxxxxxx 
 

Introduction 

Along with a group of neighbors we met with Stephen and a few other senior 
members from Tornadoes on August 14th. Stephen proudly presented their large 
club as a growing corporate entity with 600+ members, plus associated teams. The 
club also plans to introduce a social membership to open the club house to even 
more people. Stephen expects that around 1500 people could be interested. 
Although not stated in their application, they expressed their intentions to us: they 
want to transform the club into a pub-like space.  
 
He went on to explain the plans for the use of the pavilion for various activities. 
These details were shared verbally by the club and witnessed by the group, but were 
not included in the application. 
 
This would include:  
- showing football games via Sky Sport and BT Sports channel – as a sports bar 

would do.  
- introducing pool tables 
- hosting a darts team 
- renting the venue out for parties 
- Selling low priced drinks. Attracting customers with very affordable drinks – priced 
between £3.50 and £4.00 per pint. 
 
If they were to screen football games throughout the season, this could mean games 
shown every day of the week. We're worried that the club's identity as a charitable 
football education facility, is being used to hide their intent of creating what is 
basically a ‘sports bar’. 
We, as residents, have tried to collaborate. We made some suggestions such as: 
  

 a cutoff time on weeknights to allow us some peace  

 a limit on venue hire  

 Not showing live sport on TV 

 
Unfortunately, both suggestions were rejected as they want unrestricted operations. 
We feel deceived by the club. Turning the pavilion into an active pub and sports bar – 
being allowed to serve alcohol from 11AM to 11PM, 7 DAYS A WEEK, doesn't align 
with the building’s design or location. The tranquil surroundings, situated near 
residential bedroom windows, include young children, babies, and the elderly.  
 
The increased noise from football practices has already been problematic, making it 
difficult to put our children to bed due to excessive shouting. Now, this activity 
appears to be intensifying, causing concern for our family. 
Beyond dusk, the area becomes a peaceful spot for reflection and is home to 
nocturnal wildlife such as badgers, bats, owls. It's not suitable for sports screenings, 

Page 47



parties, and serving inexpensive alcohol to such a large and seemingly open ‘social 
membership’. 
We're deeply concerned about the potential impact on our mental and physical well-
being if this tranquility is taken away. We urge for careful consideration of these 
factors. 
 

Public nuisance 

 The ‘Off license’ request is to encourage spectators to consume alcohol off 

premises in the park area, some of which is not covered by the lease of the 

building or the pitch. Tornadoes have said they will be encouraging people to 

take alcohol from the clubhouse to the pitch (to watch the games). This 

means people would carry drinks over an official public footpath, which is 

used by children and dog walkers. This path is in frequent use and often busy 

during game times. 

 
 There is often antisocial behavior in Miswell lane recreation ground. This 

already can create excessive noise. Adding more people into the mix and a 

focal point for attention in a dark field, would likely increase this nuisance and 

no doubt encourage an increase in night time activity / antisocial behavior. 

 
 Sound levels and disruption caused by the club are already regular and high. 

Players are literally shouting as loud as they possibly can on the pitch. It’s 

very disruptive and frequently provides a nuisance to us and our children. A 

license would lengthen the hours of the club’s activity and take away the ‘after 

dusk’ peaceful character of the area. 

The prevention of crime and disorder. 

 The area regularly suffers from disorder caused by the football club. Parking 

on Miswell Lane and Christchurch road has become dangerous. Club 

members regularly and unapologetically break the law, with cars fully parked 

on the pavement and/or blocking the road. (I have photo evidence of this). 

The playing of regular sporting events and parties will make this difficult 

situation much worse and more frequent. 

 
 There is a long history of crime surrounding the pavilion. The pavilion has 

also suffered from regular damage and attempted break-ins. It’s even been 

set on fire in the past. The storage of alcohol on premises will make this 

worse. The police have already had to place a wildlife camera at the rear of 

the property to deter crime. It should unfortunately be noted that Tornadoes 

own members have been caught (by myself and Steve) damaging the 

property and climbing on the roof out of club hours. In terms of the club’s 

history, their previous premises were also broken into and damaged several 

times. 

Public safety 

 All access routes are far from the pavilion. All are unlit and have uneven 

ground. At night they are pitch black. Most of Tring is situated to the East of 

the pavilion this encourages people to enter and exit through two main paths: 

Page 48



 

 
 

Exit 1 (please see map diagram attached) 
A narrow footpath that runs between the back gardens of Osmington Place 
and Windmill way. It’s pitch black, extremely uneven and very narrow with 
multiple obstacles. It is not safe to walk along at night even without 
consuming alcohol. 

At the end of the footpath before it reaches the road, there is a wooded patch 
where there are 5 houses in Osmington Place. These houses have extremely 
elderly residents, I believe mostly on their own. They are vulnerable and 
easily made nervous. We cannot encourage Football Club drinkers to pass 
these houses. It's not right. 

Exit 2 (please see map diagram attached) 
A path that runs from the pavilion South East through the recreation ground to 
an alleyway leading past Goldfields Primary school. This is not a proper path 
and involves traversing large tree roots that, even in the day, are difficult to 
navigate. Quite frankly this path is dangerous and a tripping hazard to all. 
There is a way round this hazard to the right but it's not a formal path and 
involves treading over a fence that has been trampled down over time.  

There is another path that runs to Miswell lane (Exit 3). Better ground but still 
pitch black. Unfortunately this will be the wrong direction for many people 
going home as there are far fewer houses this side of town. 

None of these routes are not suitable for use in the dark – particularly for 
those who have consumed alcohol. A license that extends to 11pm would 

Page 49



likely result in injuries and antisocial behavior. A dark alleyway or a field are 
not suitable exit routes after dark for a venue selling alcohol. 

The protection of children from harm 

 With 600+ members, mostly children under the ages of 18, it’s not responsible 

to serve low cost alcohol in this environment. It is encouraging and 

normalizing the consumption of alcohol to younger generations who are 

currently on a good track. An application to stay open to 11:30 is not in line 

with the attitude and intent of a young person’s education sports club. While 

we are all proud of Tornadoes progression in sports it is clear that an alcohol 

license has nothing to do with education and sports. The license is to create a 

pub-like venue for the benefit of the senior members.  These efforts should 

not be confused. 

 
 The Miswell lane recreation ground serves the community, many of those are 

children. The Tornadoes intend to allow the large social membership to take 

alcohol off premises to the surrounding areas, not limited to the football pitch. 

With the ONLY tables and benches in the recreational ground situated next to 

a children’s playground, it’s inevitable that this off-license alcohol will end up 

being consumed there. Close to families and children, with no association 

with the club and point of sale of said alcohol. 

 
 We have two xxxxxxxxx (information with-held). Due to the increasingly 

regular activity by the club our family is already starting to struggle. When 

games are played the shouting is relentless. Any child would find it difficult to 

go to sleep with this type of noise. In addition, one of our xxxxxx has a health 

condition which causes severe chronic cough and breathing difficulties at 

night. xxx sleep is badly impacted by noise. An alcohol license that allows 

drinking after dark would be putting a considerable strain on what is already a 

difficult situation and likely impact one of our children's health. Allowing the 

club to host parties and play music after dark behind our home would be a 

nightmare for our family. Our garden isn’t large, xxxxxxxx (location with-held) 

 Please don’t put us through this. 

Wild life 

A licensed premise showing sports matches, and holding regular parties with 
amplified music would have damaging effects on local wildlife. Currently after dark 
the area surrounding the pavilion is silent. This has allowed the following animals to 
thrive here. 
 
Bats: 
Bats are a protected animal in the UK under both the “The Conservation of Habitats 
and Species Regulations 2017” and the “Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 “.  
There are many bats that use the space around the pavilion everyday in the summer 
months. They most likely hibernate in the vicinity during winter.  
They feed around the pavilion, field and the surrounding gardens. I have video 
evidence of this. I also suspect that they are roosting in broken trees behind and to 
the side of the building and the houses in the area. 

Page 50



Bats are very sensitive to disturbances, including noise. This is because they rely on 
echolocation to navigate and find food. Noise can disrupt their foraging and roosting 
behaviors. Noise often has a negative impact on their populations. Any activity will be 
reported to the correct bodies. 
Bats are also disturbed by light, particularly bright artificial light. The Pavilion has 
recently been fitted with ultra bright LEDs that are likely to be disturbing the bats 
already. Light pollution can fragment and disrupt natural habitats, making it more 
difficult for bats to navigate and find suitable roosting and foraging sites. 
 
Badgers: 
Badgers are protected by the “Protection of Badgers Act 1992”. 
There is a large badger set 5-10 meters from the pavilion building. I am happy to 
pinpoint the gps location and provide photos of the large set with an estimated 8-12 
entrances. Any noise after dark, particularly sudden noise (such as cheering at sports 
or music) would disrupt this protected animal. I am also concerned about members 
disturbing the badgers as they exit the club. It’s also most guaranteed that after dark, 
the club’s activity would disturb these animals, if not managed carefully. An alcohol 
license that allows night time drinking would encourage this. Again any activity will be 
reported to the appropriate bodies. 
 
Owls: 
There is at least one owl that frequents the pavilion area regularly after dark, possibly 
living in the woodland next to the pavilion. We see it regularly in the trees directly 
behind the building and in our garden (behind the building). From its call you can 
clearly detect a protected species called the “Little Owl”. Records show Little Owls 
declined by an estimated 40% between 1995 and 2010. It’s estimated there are 
6,000 pairs in the uk today, their environment and habitat should be respected. 
An alcohol license that allows night-time activity and encourages loud behavior, 
would most certainly have a dramatic impact on these rare and protected animals. 
 

Conclusion 

We appreciate the time that Stephen and other senior members gave us to discuss 
their plan for the club. We wanted to meet with them to find out the intentions behind 
the license application and discuss our concerns. We were disappointed these 
concerns were dismissed and that none of our suggestions were taken on-board.  

 
We commend the work that Tornadoes does for the community and wish them well in 
all sporting and educational activities, we hope that our xxxxx can play for them one 
day.. But for the reason stated above we cannot support this application. Without any 
concessions from their side, and the intention to push for a full and seemingly open 
license application, our position is that we strongly oppose it. 
 
  

Page 51



ANNEX D9 

Representations in connection to a Licensing Application  

Application ref. no: M057162  

Application type: LA2003 s.17: Premises licence - New licence application  

Premises name: Tornadoes Sports Education & Leisure Premises address: Sports Pavilion, 

Miswell Lane Recreation Ground, Miswell Lane, Tring, Hertfordshire HP23 4EX  

Background  

Tornadoes Sports Education & Leisure (“Tornadoes”) have applied for a Premises Licence at 

the Sports Pavilion in Miswell Lane Park.  Myself and a number of other xxxxxxxx residents 

met with the chairman of the Tornadoes at the Sports Pavilion to discuss the application. I 

gather that this meeting was arranged after an Osmington Place resident spotted the notice 

on the Sports Pavilion and raised concerns. During this meeting we were informed that 

following the grant of this licence the Sports Pavilion is intended to be used in connection to 

the licence for any use that the potentially c1,500 person Tornadoes membership base 

(estimate provided by Tornadoes during the metting) demands. The application provides 

little to no detail on the Tornadoes intended use of the licence. We were informed that the 

uses in connection to the licence (if granted) may include: 

 -  drinking alcohol after matches have been played in the park; 

 -  spectators drinking alcohol in the park whilst watching the football; 

 -  broadcasting live football matches within the Sports Pavilion whilst serving alcohol; 

 -  hosting courses for coaches whilst serving alcohol; 

 - darts/other indoor sports matches within the Sports Pavilion whilst serving alcohol; 

 -  and parties where alcohol will be served.  

Tornadoes also described their position as “chicken and egg” as they can’t currently confirm 

exactly how the Sports Pavilion will be used following the grant of the licence (if granted), 

but that Licensing at Dacorum Borough Council (“DBC”) had encouraged them to submit the 

licence application in its current form. If granted pursuant to the requests made in the 

application the licence shall allow Tornadoes to operate a Sports Bar / Pub in the Sports 

Pavilion in Miswell Lane Park serving alcohol 11:00 – 23:00 seven days a week and until 

00:30 on New Year’s Eve.  

We have been informed that alcohol is likely to be served at discounted rates to members 

possibly somewhere around the £3.50 - £4.00 mark per pint. This compares to a usual price 

of around £6 - £7 at other pubs and bars in the town. If granted, this licence will allow the 

users to drink more alcohol than they could purchase in a standard pub/bar in the town.  I 

live at xxxxxxxxxxxxx (address with-held) and the below comprises my representations as to 

why the applied for Premises Licence should not be granted.  

Preventing Crime and Disorder  

Break-ins and criminal damage to the Sports Pavilion:  

Page 52



In their application Tornadoes note that the membership base are to be responsible for 

looking after their facility. Tornadoes already use a football Pavilion facility in Pound 

Meadow, Tring. This facility has been broken into and damaged on several occasions that I 

am aware of in the past year or so. The police will be aware of these incidents. It is 

staggering that Tornadoes can claim that the membership will be responsible for looking 

after their facility, when the membership have been unable to look after their Pound 

Meadow facility this year. Unfortunately, Tring currently has youth anti-social behaviour 

issues that their members are clearly unable to prevent. When these same groups of youths 

learn that the Sports Pavilion is an alcohol store, there will be relentless break ins and 

damage to the Sport Pavilion. CCTV is no deterrent to these groups as they simply put their 

hoods up. The Sports Pavilion has been burnt down and damaged in the past, including 

criminal damage whilst it has been under Tornadoes’ ownership in Summer 2023 which 

included swastikas being painted on to the roof. Tornadoes cannot control or protect the 

Sports Pavilion from crime and disorder (including break-ins and damage) and the addition 

of alcohol will be fanning the flames. The police and fire service will need to be on constant 

high alert if a Premises Licence is granted to allow the Sports Pavilion to be an alcohol store.  

Crime and Disorder in areas near to the Sport Pavilion: The main access that the vast 

majority of visitors will use for access to and egress from the Sports Pavilion, as is currently 

used by players on matchdays, is the public right of way between Christchurch Road and 

Miswell Lane Park. This is a narrow unlit alleyway allowing access on foot / push bike only. 

As it is unlit and near to a park where groups of youths gather, this narrow and unlit 

alleyway is already rife for anti-social behaviour. This includes urinating and defacating, 

littering, the smoking of cannabis, graffiti, damage to Osmington Place residents’ fences and 

criminal damage by way of egging Osmington Place residents’ properties. The following are 

police crime reference numbers form Hertfordshire Constabulary and dates for egging 

incidents suffered and reported by my neighbour at no.xxxxxxxxxx: (location with-held). 

Date Reference number 

31.10.2021 HC0740 

12.11.2021 HC0642 

13.11.2021 HC0692 

30.11.2021 HC0612 

11.12.2021 HC0533 

17.01.2022 HC0657 

25.07.2022 HC0745 
 

The above of course only includes those incidents that were reported. That neighbour is 

relieved to have moved away from the area.  

My understanding is that when anti-social behaviour of this type takes place in this location 

it is very difficult for the police to manage the situation as the perpetrators can run into the 

park and leave the park via several other exits some distance from the Sport Pavilion. 

Serving alcohol at the Sports Pavilion will only add to the crime and disorder in the alleyway. 

Even if the Tornadoes members are not any of the youths causing the issues currently 

ongoing in this alleyway (as listed above), the serving of alcohol til late at the Sport Pavilion 

will add a further group and increase the potential for crime and disorder to take place in 

this alleyway (or the park) when these two groups come together. From a Public Safety 

perspective, I would also urge anyone considering this application to walk through this 

Page 53



narrow and unlit alleyway at 11pm or later (the time that the Tornadoes wish to serve 

alcohol til on any given day) to see how intimidating it already is for any person. I am a 6ft 

male and it is not a nice experience. To add a further group of intoxicated persons using this 

access late and night will be a horribly intimidating prospect for many. My partner will 

already refuse to walk this alleyway alone after dark for the reasons above and it is sadly the 

type of space that could lend itself to heinous crime and disorder late and night.  

This alleyway is also only an estimate of 10 metres from my xxxxxxxx bedroom window and I 

do not want xxx to be experience hearing or seeing the increased number of anti-social 

behaviour incidents that the applied for Premises Licence would bring.  

I am concerned that the police do not have sufficient resources to adequately manage the 

items discussed above and that a Premises Licence will be a further drain on their resources.  

Public Safety  

In addition to the safety in the alleyway item mentioned above it is concerning from a public 

safety perspective that this licence is being applied for in a building located in a public park. 

An on and off licence would allow Tornadoes to serve alcohol which may then be taken 

anywhere into the park. The only seating areas in Miswell Lane Park are adjacent/near to the 

children’s play areas. It is therefore foreseeable that alcohol is purchased in the Sport 

Pavilion before being consumed next to areas where children are playing. It is also alarming 

that if the licence is granted it will allow for alcohol to be littered / discarded throughout this 

public park and the various risks this poses. The proliferation of alcohol in a public park 

poses a significant risk to public safety.  

As the alleyway between Christchurch Road and Miswell Lane Park is the main access (on 

foot only) the local residents expect that, if a licence is granted, more cars will be parked 

illegally on the Christchurch Road “S bend” near to the alleyway. This is currently 

experienced by local residents on match days. It is dangerous for pedestrians and drivers and 

accidents are expected. Parking on the bend is also often over the pavement which causes 

significant safety risks for those with prams or wheelchairs as they attempt to navigate 

around the cars. This problem will increase significantly if a Premises Licence is granted and 

is of great concern to me as the father of a newborn. A significant accident is only a matter 

of time away already.  

Prevention of public nuisance  

Except for the occasions where groups of youths are causing issues, the part of the park 

where the Sports Pavilion is located is on a usual evening a peaceful place. On match days 

the residents can hear the ”buzz” of a football match being played, and this is welcomed.  

Unfortunately, if the Premises Licence is granted the local residents will no longer enjoy 

peaceful evenings and can instead expect to be kept up late at night by live entertainment 

and all the usual noise that would be associated with a sports bar. Tornadoes intend to 

broadcast live sports matches in the Sports Pavilion and just the broadcast of football 

matches could be seven days a week football involving the top English teams tends to be on 

every evening/night. Premier League/European Competition matches alone are broadcast til 

10pm Monday – Friday in most weeks. If you then add music, parties and darts/other sport 

matches taking place in the Sport Pavilion to the above, it is clear that the noise late at night 

whilst the events are ongoing and as people leave the events will mean that the peaceful 

Page 54



and quiet park is a distant memory. These are all extremely noisy activities. This will have a 

detrimental effect on my family’s mental health as we are already working people with a 

newborn and dealing with the usual impact that having a newborn has on sleep deprivation.  

If the licence is granted the residents also expect a significant increase to the amount of 

litter (including plastic cups) in the park, in the alleyway between Christchurch Road and the 

park, and in our gardens. In our garden (xxxxxxx)(location with-held), littering of items being 

thrown over the fence into our garden is already a difficult issue that my family have to deal 

with.  

Protection of children from harm  

Tornadoes, as I understand it, is a predominantly a kids/youth club that may have a small 

number of adult teams. I am unsure why the club is seeking to obtain a Premises Licence of 

this nature and can only assume that a late night “sports bar” style Sports Pavilion serving 

alcohol at discounted rates will cause more harm to the children membership of the club, 

than good. I propose that the vast majority of the playing members should not be 

introduced to alcohol, or an environment that where alcohol is a central theme, given that 

they will be underage.  

Summary It is wholly inappropriate to seek to run a sports bar/pub in a park. Added to that 

is the unsatisfactory access or parking and the further issues that brings. The Tornadoes are 

an incorporated charity that provide an excellent service in the local community for those 

wishing to play sport, but please make no mistake, this Premises Licence application is for 

alcohol to be served seven days a week till late at a sports bar/pub located in a public park. 

For the reasons given above, a Premises Licence granted on the basis of this application will 

provide more detriment for the community of Tring, than any benefits and I politely implore 

DBC to reject the application.  

  

Page 55



ANNEX D10 
 

From: xxxxxxxx   
Sent: 21 August 2023 17:23 
To: Licensing Mailbox <Licensing@dacorum.gov.uk> 
Subject: MO57162 - preventing public nuisance 

 

 

My details: 
xxxxxxxxxxx 
xxxxxxxxx 
xxxxxx 
xxxxxxxx 
 
Tornadoes sports Education & Leisure have applied for an alcohol sales licence for 
alcohol to be supplied for consumption both ON and OFF the premises. 
 
We would like to register our objection to the licence application on the grounds 
that it would materially increase the risk of public nuisance in the location and 
immediate surroundings.  
 
The location forms a significant part of the green space in Tring, being attached to 
Miswell Lane Park, which is an area of use for families, school children, and nature 
lovers on a daily basis.  Whilst we understand and support the football clubs' 
ambition to redevelop the club house and use the football pitch more regularly, we 
see the application for an alcohol licence to be unwarranted, unnecessary, and 
completely out of alignment with the location and its general intended use. 
 
Sale of alcohol within the park area will inevitably create increased anti-social 
behaviour and conflicts with the spaces intended use as a sporting and recreational 
area.  Furthermore the application for "takeaway drinks" will lead to more plastic 
litter in what is a pleasant park area.  
 
The local cricket and rugby clubs have social memberships and clubhouses - but 
distinctly these are professionally run bars, in private locations, with adequate 
parking.  The location in question here is in close proximity to residential housing, 
has precisely zero parking provision, and is an area of peaceful nature & family use.   
 
The sale of alcohol we firmly believe is therefore completely out of character for the 
location and we would like our objection registered.       
 
The application details numerous statements around how the club will mitigate poor 
conduct, noise, behaviour, littering, parking issues, etc etc - all of which merely 
amount to best efforts undertakings on their part to minimise such public nuisance, 
but in themselves clearly highlight through their own submission that their plans will 
increase the risk of such antisocial behaviour.   
 

Page 56



The police already have to come to the park on a regular basis to deal with low level 
crime such as drug taking & anti-social behaviour.  We applaud the clubs decision to 
install CCTV and redevelop the clubhouse - these steps are in a positive direction, but 
we don't see the rationale for then going backwards and increasing the risk of poor 
behaviour with alcohol sales.      
 
Yours sincerely, 
xxxxxxxx 
  

Page 57



ANNEX D11 

From: xxxxxxx  
Sent: 21 August 2023 18:53 
To: Licensing Mailbox <Licensing@dacorum.gov.uk> 
Subject: M057162 - New Licence Application for Sports Pavilion, Miswell Lane Recreation 
Ground  

 

 

Dear Sir, 
 
I am writing to object to the new licence application for the Sports Pavilion in 
Miswell Lane (Ref No M057162). 
 
I believe that this licence is completely unacceptable for this site on the grounds of 
preventing public nuisance.  
 
On match and training days there are significant numbers of additional cars parked 
on the local streets, which already makes it more difficult for local residences and 
cars are not always parked with consideration.  
 
As you will be aware, noise at this type of facility travels a large distance over open 
ground, and I strongly believe that should this licence be granted, the extra noise will 
impact a large number of residences around the Recreation Ground, including my 
home which xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx(location with-held). 
 
A licence for alcohol sales would make both of these issues much worse. Whilst I 
wholeheartedly support the work that Tring Tornadoes do with junior members, I do 
not believe that a licence (for alcohol sales and live music) is necessary for them to 
continue the development of junior football teams. 
 
I do not believe that there are many neighbours of the Miswell Lane Recreation 
Ground who are Tornadoes members, and I would like to see the statistics on this. 
The number of additional cars parked in the surrounding streets would suggest that 
there are not too many local members. 
 
Please let me know if you need any further details from me. My details are below: 
 
xxxxxxxxxxxxx 
xxxxxxxxxxxxxx 
xxxxxxxxxxxx 
xxxxxxxxxxxxx 
xxxxxxxxxxxxxx 
 
Best regards 
xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx 
  

Page 58



ANNEX D12 

From: xxxxxxxx   
Sent: 21 August 2023 21:45 
To: Licensing Mailbox <Licensing@dacorum.gov.uk> 
Subject: Representation Re: M057162 

 

Dear Licensing Team,   

 

I write further to the application by Tornadoes Sports Education and Leisure for a license for Miswell 

Lane Sports Pavillion. Your reference M057162.  

 

I would like to start by saying that the principle of the sports pavilion being licensed is not my main 

area of concern. What does primarily concern me is the proposed hours of operation. Broadly 

speaking I can see the potential benefit to the community of the sports facilities being better used 

than they have been for the last year or more and indeed generally trying to create more community 

interest in the facilities. To that end I could understand how some daytime, well managed, drinking 

alongside some of the clubs matches could be of benefit. However the request for licensing to 11PM, 

7 days a week holds itself out to be a wholly different operation by essentially siting a pub in the 

middle of what is currently a quiet residential area. It is difficult to understand how running a 'Junior' 

sports club is compatible with running a pub in a park.  

 

Whilst the application is drafted and holds itself out to be about use by the members of the club itself 

(that being one of the main control mechanisms they offer on behaviour) the club (when questioned 

by a fellow neighbour) has also not ruled out hosting parties and events at the sports pavillion which 

seems incompatible with what is noted in their application.  

 

In addition the application claims that the club have engaged with local residents, however this seems 

sorely lacking with few residents having any knowledge of the application just a few days before the 

deadline for representations. Indeed, we are at the access point for vehicles to the sports field and do 

often see representatives of the club coming and going and none have mentioned it to us.  

 

The reason for drawing these points to your attention is it generally shows a lack of candour in the 

preparation of their application and should generate further questions on the validity of other aspects 

of their submission.  

 

Turning to concerns around public nuisance and noise I would query how additional refuse would be 

handled. The park is often already littered (especially at weekends) and it seems likely to be an issue 

which is further exacerbated by permitting drinking on the park area outside the pavillion. Use of the 

outside space in addition to the pavillion also raises concern about noise pollution coming from the 

area, especially late at night when there will be children sleeping. I would also note the proximity of 

the pavillion to an Infants school (Goldfield) and the potential for increased anti social behaviour to 

be generated in proximity to the school. All in all, I would question whether use of the facilities at the 

sports pavillion as a bar would lower the enjoyment of the recreation ground for other users and 

prove to be deleterious to their enjoyment. In particular I do not see how a license late into the 

evening (11PM) in particular is compatible with the general enjoyment of the area by others, 

including existing residents of the area.  

 

--  

Kind Regards,  

Xxxxxxxxxxxxxx 

Page 59



ANNEX D13 

From: xxxxxxx   
Sent: 21 August 2023 22:35 
To: Licensing Mailbox <Licensing@dacorum.gov.uk> 
Cc: xxxxxx  
Subject: Objection to Licensing Application 
 
 
Reference: 
Premises address: 
M057162 
LA2003 s.17: Premises licence - New licence application 25 July 2023 Tornadoes Sports 
Education & Leisure Sports Pavilion, Miswell Lane Recreation Ground, Miswell Lane 
 
Dear Sir / Madam, 
As a local resident, I have significant two concerns with this licensing application: 
 
1. The late closing time of 11pm will expose nearby residents to excessive noise at night as 
customers leave the bar and move away onto Miswell Lane.  The license may an also 
encourage public nuisance as customers loiter around Miswell Recreation ground having 
consumed too much alcohol. 
 
I’m always sensitive to people on the Recreation Ground late at night and in the dark as our 
house was broken into in 2018 and the burglar entered via the Rec. 
 
I would accept a much reduced license allowing alcohol to be consumed for a few hours 
around a football match which are usually in the afternoons at the weekend. A bar closure of 
7pm would be reasonable. 
 
2. The license will increase the number of cars parking on Miswell Lane, as a resident it is 
often difficult to park close to my house on a Saturday or Sunday when football matches are 
played. A license could further increase this problem. 
 
I make the further observations that no one making the application has engaged with me to 
garner views on determining a reasonable licensing application. It would also seem 
inconsistent for a primarily junior sports club to be linking alcohol with sport. 
 
Could you please confirm receipt of this objection. 
 
xxxxxxxx 
  

Page 60



ANNEX D14 

From: xxxx   
Sent: 22 August 2023 10:09 
To: Licensing Mailbox <Licensing@dacorum.gov.uk> 
Subject: Re: M057162 

 

 

Good Morning Ms McDonald 
 
Thank you for getting back to you and I am happy to provide you with more 
information. 
 
In relation to Prevention of public nuisance:  The pavilion is a small hut on the side 

of the park, the park is not lit at night and when there are people in the park the 

noise carries and disturbs the neighbourhood.  Having people in there watching sport 

and drinking will create a noise and a nuisance to the local neighbourhood.  In 

addition, there is no parking, already when there are matches people park with little 

consideration to local residents however local residents accept this as it is for a 

limited time,  having this now 12 hours a day, 7 days a week without a plan for 

parking is wrong.  The park has a lot of wildlife in it and as it is providing take outs 

there is nothing stopping people drinking in the park late a night disturbing the local 

wildlife and leaving litter. 
 
I understand why the club may want an alcohol licence but i do not understand why it 

is from 11am to 11pm, 7 days a week with live music and live sports TV. 
 
The application makes a lot of statement around local residents being members yet i 

do not know of any.  I don't think they can say that without justification. 
 
Happy to discuss 
 
Thanks 
xxxx 
  

Page 61



ANNEX D15 

From: xxxxxx   
Sent: 22 August 2023 11:34 
To: Licensing Mailbox <Licensing@dacorum.gov.uk> 
Cc:  
Subject: Re: Application Ref.: M057162 

 

CAUTION: This message was sent from outside of Dacorum BC. Please do not reply 

to, click links or open attachments UNLESS you recognise the source of this email 

and know the content is safe. Please report all suspicious emails. 

 

Ms McDonald, good morning.  
 

Thank you for your prompt response.  
 

I appreciate the clarity provided regarding the framework for 
objections. I would like to further elaborate on my concerns in line 

with the Licensing objectives: 
 

1. Crime and disorder: Crime Reports and Statistics have 

long-established that introducing alcohol sales can lead to 

an increase in anti-social behavior and potential alcohol-

related incidents. It is reasonable to be concerned that 

mixing sports enthusiasts, potentially passionate about their 

teams, with alcohol might lead to confrontations or other 

types of disruptive behaviors that require Police 

intervention. This change could transform a currently 

peaceful sports area into one where residents (including 

children in the adjacent playing fields) may feel threatened 

or unsafe. 

2. Public Safety: Given the limited public transportation 

options available, there is a valid concern over the potential 

increase in drink driving incidents. As the venue is in a 

somewhat isolated location, patrons may choose to drive 

home after consuming alcohol, posing a significant risk to 

public safety.  

3. Prevention of public nuisance: The introduction of 

alcohol might lead to louder and more prolonged noise 

disturbances, especially during evening hours when 

residents expect peace. This goes beyond the current noise 

from sporting events, as alcohol can amplify noise levels 

through louder conversations, laughter, or even disputes.  

4. Protection of children from harm: The proximity of the 

football club to residential areas housing many families 

Page 62



indicates that children would frequently be in or near this 

environment. Children might be exposed to alcohol-induced 

behaviors which could range from inappropriate language or 

actions to outright dangerous situations. The presence of a 

bar might also encourage loitering or gathering of inebriated 

individuals near play areas or routes children use, which is 

not conducive to their well-being. 

 

In terms of the specific points raised in your email: 
 

 Point 4: As outlined above, introducing alcohol sales to an 

area primarily used by children and young adults for sports 

and recreational activities could deter them. The presence of 

inebriated individuals might make families and children 

uncomfortable, leading to reduced usage and overall 

community engagement.  

 Point 5: My objection isn't against the right of the football 

club to apply for a license, but the potential consequences it 

might have on the community, especially in terms of public 

nuisance and children's safety.  

 Point 6: My concerns primarily focus on the potential risks 

associated with drink driving due to the lack of public 

transportation and the implications this might have on public 

safety.  

 Point 8: Excessive drinking can lead to a variety of 

disturbances, from increased noise levels to potential 

confrontations, all of which would have negative impacts on 

residents, especially during late hours.  

 

In conclusion, whilst I recognise the rights of premises to apply for 

licenses, I believe it's imperative to consider the broader 
implications and potential risks for the community. I sincerely hope 

these elaborated concerns align better with the Licensing objectives, 
and I appreciate your time and understanding. 
 

Regards 
 

xxxxxxx 
 

  

Page 63



ANNEX E – LOCAL POLICY AND NATIONAL GUIDANCE 
 
Local Policy 
 
5. Crime and disorder 
 
5.6. When considering applications and reviews the Licensing Authority will give 
consideration to: 
 

• whether the premises make or will make a significant contribution to levels of 
crime and disorder in the local area, and 
 
• whether the operating schedule demonstrates that an adequate risk 
assessment of the likelihood of crime and disorder occurring as the result of the 
issue of an authorisation has been carried out by the applicant. 
 

Public safety 
 
5.9. When considering this objective, the Licensing Authority will concern itself with 
the physical safety and wellbeing of the people who use licensed premises, and those 
who may be affected by the use of licensed premises (e.g. non-customers who 
happen to be in the immediate vicinity of a premises). This will include measures that 
seek to prevent accidents, injuries and short- or long-term illnesses to staff, 
customers or other persons. 
 
5.10. There are several regulatory regimes concerned with public safety, and the 
Licensing Authority will seek to avoid duplication with these insofar as is possible. In 
particular, we will not duplicate obligations placed upon licence-holders under the 
Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 or the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 
2005. 
 
Public nuisance 
 
5.13. The Licensing Authority will interpret the term ‘public nuisance’ widely, and 
when considering this objective will take into account issues relating to noise, 
vibration, light, litter, offensive odours and anti-social behaviour arising from or in 
connection with the provision of licensable activities. 
 
5.14. This objective does not mean the complete prevention of all of the above 
issues, but rather the prevention of such unreasonable levels of these as would 
constitute a nuisance to the public or a section thereof. 
 
5.20. The Licensing Authority will also pay close regard to premises in close 
proximity to residential property proposing or permitted to trade after 11pm, where the 
premises includes one or more external areas for use by customers (for example, 
beer gardens, external dining areas, or smoking areas), as use of such areas by 
customers has the potential to lead to a public nuisance if not closely controlled. 
Applicants are required to include measures within their operating schedule setting 
out how they intend to control the use of such areas, in order to promote this licensing 
objective. 
 
5.21. The Licensing Authority is aware that this objective relates primarily to 
preventing children from being exposed to or permitted to access age-restricted 
products, such as alcohol; or age-restricted services, such as films with content 
deemed suitable only for adults or relevant entertainment of a sexual nature. 

Page 64



Considerations relating to the physical safety and welfare of children will also be 
taken into account as part of any action the authority takes to promote the public 
safety objective. 
 
5.23. The Licensing Authority will only look to impose further restrictions beyond 
those set out above prohibiting access to premises by children if it considers it 
appropriate to do so, to protect the child from a relevant type of harm. 
 
5.26. Where a large number of children are likely to be present at a licensed 
premises, the Licensing Authority will expect an appropriate number of suitably-
trained adult staff to be present, to control access and egress of children, and ensure 
their safety and protection from harm. 
 
8. Representations and Reviews 
 
8.5. The Licensing Authority must have reasonable grounds in order to take action 
to refuse, to revoke or to suspend a licence. This means that it will usually need to 
see evidence which substantiates the grounds cited in representations or review 
applications if it is to act upon those grounds. Speculative grounds which cannot be 
substantiated have previously been found by the courts to carry little weight in the 
decision-making process, and it is therefore likely that the Licensing Authority would 
be unable to take action of a type referred to above if such grounds are the only ones 
cited in respect of an application. 
 
9. Applications 
 
9.1. Every matter requiring determination by the Licensing Authority will be 
considered on its individual merits, and in doing so the authority shall have regard to 
this Statement, the Guidance, and the need to promote the licensing objectives. 
Where applicable, an evidentiary hearing will be conducted prior to the determination 
of the matter, in full accordance with Regulations made under the Act. 
 
10. Licensing hours 
 
10.4. The Licensing Authority expects that issues relating to licensing hours, and in 
particular measures to limit the potential for nuisance or disorder arising from later 
hours of trading, will be addressed by the applicant in their operating schedule. 
 
10.8. The Licensing Authority will deal with the issue of licensing hours on the 
individual merits of each application. However, when issuing a licence, stricter 
conditions are more likely to be considered appropriate for the promotion of the public 
nuisance objective in the case of premises that are situated in predominantly 
residential areas. 
 
11. Licence conditions 
 
11.1. The Licensing Authority will seek to avoid imposing disproportionate 
conditions on premises. It will only impose conditions that it considers appropriate in 
order to promote the licensing objectives, and which are in themselves reasonable 
and proportionate. 
 
11.2. Additionally, we will seek to ensure that conditions only pertain to matters 
which are within the direct control or the sphere of influence of the licence-holder, 
generally this will mean within the premises, or in the nearby vicinity 
 

Page 65



11.3. When we set conditions, we will follow the SMART methodology, and aim to 
ensure that the conditions are: 
 
• Specific – directly related to the premises and the licensable activities carried 
on; the condition clearly and unambiguously states what is required of the licence-
holder; 
• Measurable – that it is possible to confirm whether the condition is being 
satisfied; if compliance cannot be readily verified, it is likely that a court will rule a 
condition is unenforceable; 
• Achievable – that the licence-holder is able to satisfy the measures required to 
comply with the requirement: it is not something which is outside his control; 
• Reasonable – that the condition does not place unachievable, 
disproportionate or unrealistic requirements on the licence-holder; 
• Time-bound – where appropriate (for example, if substantial new equipment 
will have to be purchased and installed) a time period will be stated for the licence-
holder to achieve compliance with the requirement. 
 
28. Fire Safety 
 
28.3. The Licensing Authority expects all premises licence and club premises 
certificate holders to adhere fully to the requirements of the (Fire Regulatory Reform 
2005) Order, in particular with regard to ensuring that a suitable fire risk assessment 
has been undertaken and any applicable measures implemented.  
 
NATIONAL GUIDANCE 
 
Licence conditions – general principles 
 
1.16 Conditions on a premises licence or club premises certificate are important in 
setting the parameters within which premises can lawfully operate. The use of 
wording such as “must”, “shall” and “will” is encouraged. Licence conditions: 
• must be appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives; 
• must be precise and enforceable; 
• must be unambiguous and clear in what they intend to achieve; 
• should not duplicate other statutory requirements or other duties or responsibilities 
placed on the employer by other legislation; 
• must be tailored to the individual type, location and characteristics of the premises 
and events concerned; 
• should not be standardised and may be unlawful when it cannot be demonstrated 
that they are appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives in an individual 
case; 
• should not replicate offences set out in the 2003 Act or other legislation; 
• should be proportionate, justifiable and be capable of being met; 
• cannot seek to manage the behaviour of customers once they are beyond the direct 
management of the licence holder and their staff, but may impact on the behaviour of 
customers in the immediate vicinity of the premises or as they enter or leave; and 
• should be written in a prescriptive format. 
 
Each application on its own merits 
 
1.17 Each application must be considered on its own merits and in accordance with 
the licensing authority’s statement of licensing policy; for example, if the application 
falls within the scope of a cumulative impact policy. Conditions attached to licences 
and certificates must be tailored to the individual type, location and characteristics of 
the premises and events concerned. This is essential to avoid the imposition of 

Page 66



disproportionate and overly burdensome conditions on premises where there is no 
need for such conditions. Standardised conditions should be avoided and indeed may 
be unlawful where they cannot be shown to be appropriate for the promotion of the 
licensing objectives in an individual case. 
 
Public Safety 
 
Ensuring safe departure of those using the premises 
 
2.15 Licence holders should make provision to ensure that premises users safely 
leave their premises. Measures that may assist include: 
• Providing information on the premises of local taxi companies who can provide safe 
transportation home; and 
• Ensuring adequate lighting outside the premises, particularly on paths leading to 
and from the premises and in car parks. 
 
2.18 The permitted capacity is a limit on the number of persons who may be on the 
premises at any time, following a recommendation by the relevant fire and rescue 
authority under the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005. For any application 
for a premises licence or club premises certificate for premises without an existing 
permitted capacity where the applicant wishes to take advantage of the special 
provisions set out in section 177 of the 2003 Act1, the applicant should conduct their 
own risk assessment as to the appropriate capacity of the premises. They should 
send their recommendation to the fire and rescue authority which will consider it and 
decide what the “permitted capacity” of those premises should be. 
 
Public Nuisance 
 
2.21 Public nuisance is given a statutory meaning in many pieces of legislation. It is 
however not narrowly defined in the 2003 Act and retains its broad common law 
meaning. It may include in appropriate circumstances the reduction of the living and 
working amenity and environment of other persons living and working in the area of 
the licensed premises 
 
2.26 Beyond the immediate area surrounding the premises, these are matters for the 
personal responsibility of individuals under the law. An individual who engages in anti-
social behaviour is accountable in their own right. However, it would be perfectly 
reasonable for a licensing authority to impose a condition, following relevant 
representations, that requires the licence holder or club to place signs at the exits 
from the building encouraging patrons to be quiet until they leave the area, or that, if 
they wish to smoke, to do so at designated places on the premises instead of outside, 
and to respect the rights of people living nearby to a peaceful night. 
 
Protection of children from harm 
 
2.27 The protection of children from harm includes the protection of children from 
moral, psychological and physical harm. This includes not only protecting children 
from the harms associated directly with alcohol consumption but also wider harms 
such as exposure to strong language and sexual expletives. 
 
2.31 Licensing authorities and responsible authorities should expect applicants, when 
preparing an operating schedule or club operating schedule, to set out the steps to be 
taken to protect children from harm when on the premises. 
 

Page 67



2.32 Conditions, where they are appropriate, should reflect the licensable activities 
taking place on the premises. In addition to the mandatory condition regarding age 
verification, other conditions relating to the protection of children from harm can 
include: 
• restrictions on the hours when children may be present; 
• restrictions or exclusions on the presence of children under certain ages when 
particular specified activities are taking place; 
• restrictions on the parts of the premises to which children may have access; 
• age restrictions (below 18); 
• restrictions or exclusions when certain activities are taking place; 
• requirements for an accompanying adult (including for example, a combination of 
requirements which provide that children under a particular age must be 
accompanied by an adult); and 
• full exclusion of people under 18 from the premises when any licensable activities 
are taking place. 
 
Beer gardens or other outdoor spaces 
 
8.35 Applicants will want to consider whether they might want to use a garden or 
other outdoor space as a location from which alcohol will be consumed. The sale of 
alcohol is to be treated as taking place where the alcohol is appropriated to the 
contract.  In scenarios where drink orders are taken by a member of staff in the 
garden or outdoor space and the member of staff then collects the drinks from the 
licensed premises and returns to deliver them to the customer this would be treated 
as an off-sale and any conditions that relate to off-sales would apply. 
 
8.36 In such cases it will not be necessary to include the garden or other outdoor 
space on the plan as part of the area covered by the premises licence. However, it 
will be necessary for the applicant to include the garden or other outdoor space on 
the plan as part of the area covered by the premises licence if the intention is to 
provide a service whereby drinks are available for sale and consumption directly from 
that area (i.e. the provision of on-sales). This would apply in the case of an outdoor 
bar or a service whereby a member of staff who is in the garden or outdoor space 
carries with them drinks that are available for sale (without the need for the staff 
member to return to the licensed premises to collect them). 
 
Determining actions that are appropriate for the promotion of the licensing 
objectives 
 
9.42 Licensing authorities are best placed to determine what actions are appropriate 
for the promotion of the licensing objectives in their areas. All licensing determinations 
should be considered on a case-by-case basis. They should take into account any 
representations or objections that have been received from responsible authorities or 
other persons, and representations made by the applicant or premises user as the 
case may be. 
 
9.43 The authority’s determination should be evidence-based, justified as being 
appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives and proportionate to what it is 
intended to achieve. 

Page 68



LICENSING OF ALCOHOL AND GAMBLING SUB-COMMITTEE 
PROCEDURE 
 
The procedure of the Sub-Committee will be as follows: 
 
1. The Chair will open the meeting by: 

(a) Introducing the Members of the Sub-Committee (at the same time 
indicating any change in membership), and the Officers present, to the 
parties and any other person in attendance, including any 
representative of the press; 

(b) stating the nature of the matter to be considered, (including a reference 
to the name of the premises or place concerned) and 

(c) explaining the procedure to be followed. 
 
2. The Chair will ask those present to introduce themselves and: 

(a) if any party, without prior notice, fails to attend or to be represented, the 
Sub-Committee will consider whether or not it is necessary in the public 
interest to adjourn the hearing to a specified date; 

(b) if any party is unaccompanied, the Chair will clarify whether that party 
understood it was permissible to have a representative; 

(c) the Chair will establish whether it is proposed anyone speak as a 
spokesperson; 

(d) the Sub-Committee will consider:  
(i) any properly made request by a party for permission for any other 

person, (not being a representative), to appear and  
(ii) any request to provide late documentary or other information and 

will only take the same into account if the other parties consent. 
 
3. The Chair will ask whether any Member has an interest to declare and 

whether any Member has visited the premises or place the subject of the 
application. 

 
4. The Chair will establish whether all Members of the Sub-Committee have 

read the papers before them, and then announce the order of speakers. 
 

5. The Chair will ask the Officers present to confirm whether there has been 
compliance with all relevant requirements and to summarise any relevant 
information, as necessary. 

 
6. Members may ask any relevant question of any Officer. 
 
7. The Chair will ask each person who is to speak at the meeting for an 

indication of how much time he or she reasonably estimates is required to 
make relevant points concisely, and without undue repetition, and will 
consider a maximum period of time to be applied equally in the case of all the 
parties. 

 
8. The Sub-Committee will hear from the Applicant (or representative, if 

applicable), any other party who has made relevant representations (in that 
order). 

 
9. In every case at a suitable point, Members of the Sub-Committee may ask 

relevant questions of each party. 
 

Page 69

Agenda Item 5



10. The Sub-Committee will consider any party’s request to question/cross-
examine another party and will not permit cross-examination unless it is of the 
view that it is required in order for Members to consider the representations, 
application or notice as the case may be. 

 
11. The Chair will invite any person who has addressed the Sub-Committee, or 

those representing them, to summarise their points if they wish. 
 
12. The Chair will seek confirmation from all parties that they are satisfied they 

have made all the pertinent points which they wished to make. 
 
13. Members of the Sub-Committee will discuss what has been said and written 

on the matter before them and make their decision. The Chair may request 
that the applicant or licence holder, other persons, representatives (if any) 
and any Officer present (with the exception of the Legal Officer and Corporate 
and Democratic Services Officer) withdraw during this process – if any further 
clarification or information is required from any person, all parties will be 
recalled. 

 
14. The Chair will confirm the decision, the reasons for the decision, and any 

condition placed upon the licence (if granted).  
 

15. The Sub-Committee’s decision will be confirmed in writing by the Assistant 
Director (Corporate and Contracted Services). 

 
Please Note: 

 All properly made applications, notices and representations received from 
absent parties will be considered. 

 An Applicant has a right to appeal, details of which can be obtained via the 
Licensing Officer. 

 The Authority has the right to require any person who, in its opinion, is 
behaving in a disruptive manner, to leave the hearing and may preclude, or 
impose conditions in relation to, that person’s return. 

 
 

Page 70


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	4 Premises Licence Application under the Licensing Act 2003 - Tornadoes Sports Education and Leisure
	LAGSC Appendix A Tornadoes Sports Education and Leisure version 2

	5 Procedure of the hearing

